=E

TOWER HAMLETS

BEST VALUE
PROGRAMME REVIEW
BOARD QUARTERLY
MEETING

Wednesday, 19 October 2016 at 6.00 p.m.
Room C1, 15t Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place,
London, E14 2BG

This meeting is open to the public to attend.

Members:

Mayor John Biggs

Aisling Lyon (Local Intervention and Europe Local
Government Policy, Department for
Communities and Local Government)

Alex Powell (Deputy  Director, Audit, Intervention &

Improvement, Department of Communities and
Local Government)

Sir Ken Knight (Commissioner)

Max Caller (Commissioner)

Chris Allison (Commissioner)

Alan Wood (Commissioner)

Will Tuckley (Chief Executive)

Contact for further enquiries: Scan this code
Matthew Mannion, Democratic Services to your mobile
Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG phone to view
Tel: 020 7364 4651 Committee

E-mail: website.
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee ;




Public Information

Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited
and offered on a first come first served basis.

Audio/Visual recording of meetings.
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the
agenda front page.

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting.

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.

Bus: Routes: 15, 277, 108, D6, D7, D8 all stop

near the Town Hall.

Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are

East India: Head across the bridge and then

through complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry Place

| O Blackwall station. Across the bus station then turn
- right to the back of the Town Hall complex,

o .‘.'.-.\ through the gates and archway to the Town Hall.

== Mulberry Place Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning

PN s Town and Canary Wharf

Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and

display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx)

Meeting access/special requirements.

The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing
difficulties are available. Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio
version. For further information, contact the Officer shown on the front of the aienda

Fire alarm

If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to
the fire assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you
to a safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand
adjourned.

Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be
found on our website from day of publication.

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for QR ' d ¢ ’

the relevant committee and meeting date. coae for
smart phone

users.

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.



http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS
BEST VALUE PROGRAMME REVIEW BOARD QUARTERLY MEETING

WEDNESDAY, 19 OCTOBER 2016

6.00 p.m.
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE
PECUNIARY INTERESTS

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, 1-4
including those restricting Members from voting on the

questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government

Finance Act, 1992. See attached note from the Monitoring

Officer.

UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 5-8

unrestricted minutes of the Best Value Review Board
Quarterly Meeting held on 12 July 2016.

REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION

Property Spotlight

To receive a presentation.

Organisational Spotlight

To receive a presentation.

Best Value Plan Update 9-38

Forward Plan 39-40

ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS
CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only. For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide. Advice is
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member. If in
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at
Appendix A overleaf. Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and

- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting
or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and
decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to

which the interest relates. This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.

Page 1



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register.

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-
e Melanie Clay, Corporate Director, Law, Probity and Governance, 020 7364 4800

Page 2



APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject

Prescribed description

Employment, office, trade,
profession or vacation

Sponsorship

Contracts

Land

Licences

Corporate tenancies

Securities

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on
for profit or gain.

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the
election expenses of the Member.

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and
the relevant authority—

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works
are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the
relevant authority.

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—

(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and

(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest.

Any benéeficial interest in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3

BEST VALUE PROGRAMME REVIEW BOARD SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

QUARTERLY MEETING, 12/07/2016

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE BEST VALUE PROGRAMME REVIEW BOARD QUARTERLY

MEETING

HELD AT 6.10 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 12 JULY 2016

MP702, 7TH FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, LONDON E14 2BG

Members Present:
Mayor John Biggs (Chair)
Aisling Lyon (Member)

Alex Powell (Member)

Max Caller (Member)
Chris Allison (Member)
Will Tuckley (Member)

Other Councillors Present:
Councillor Rachael Saunders

Councillor David Edgar

Officers Present:
Aman Dalvi
Steve Hill

Kevin Kewin

Denise Radley
Louise Stamp

Stuart Young
Zena Cooke

Antonella Burgio

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

(Executive Mayor)

(Local Intervention and Europe Local Government
Policy, Department for Communities and Local
Government)

(Deputy Director, Audit, Intervention &
Improvement, Department of Communities and
Local Government)

(Commissioner)

(Commissioner)

(Chief Executive)

(Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Education
& Children's Services)
(Cabinet Member for Resources)

(Corporate Director, Development & Renewal)
(Head of Benefits Service)
(Interim Service Head, Corporate Strategy

and Equality)

(Director of Adults' Services)
(Electoral Services Manager, Chief

Executive's)

(Interim Head of HR and Transformation)
(Corporate Director, Resources)

(Democratic Services)

Apologies for absence were received from Sir Ken Knight and Alan Wood.

Page 5 1



BEST VALUE PROGRAMME REVIEW BOARD

QUARTERLY MEETING, 12/07/2016

41

4.2

An apology from the following invited Members and officers was also noted:
Councillors Rachael Saunders, Josh Peck, Shiria Khatun, Whitelock-Gibbs,
Sirajul Islam, Danny Hassell and John Pierce, Melanie Clay and Minesh Jani.

DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made.
UNRESTRICTED MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2016 were agreed and approved
as a correct record.

REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION
Elections Update

A presentation was made by the Chief Executive as the Counting Officer for
the EU Referendum and the Head of Electoral Services concerning the
delivery of the poll, informing all that:

Concerning how the Council would ensure that it was able to supply an up-to-
date register at a polling station in the event of an emergency or at short
notice, Commissioners heard that:
e only experienced staff would be asked to carry out this task ensuring
that all CML checks had been properly completed.
e the Council completes all required checks and runs a mock register
before the poll.
o the Returning officer and Electoral Services will have regard to
unforeseen errors in their plans.

Commissioner Allison encouraged the authority to use debriefs to ensure that
partners were reminded to retain focus.

RESOLVED

1. That the feedback and discussion be noted.
2. That Commissioners’ feedback be noted

Best Value Plan Update

The Chief Executive introduced the item which asked the Board to consider
the current draft Best Value Action Plans update prior to its submission to the
Secretary of State in September 2016.

Grants - the Board noted:

e a report proposing transitional arrangements for the return of grants to
the Council had been presented at the recent Commissioners’ Decision
Making Meeting (CDMM) and would be discussed at a future Best
Value Programme Review Board. Commissioner Caller noted that the
report should provide detailed steps and expressed concern that the

Page 6 2

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)



BEST VALUE PROGRAMME REVIEW BOARD SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)
QUARTERLY MEETING, 12/07/2016

Grants Service should have the necessary skills to carry out the
process.

e the transfer of decision making to the elected CDMM members
overseen by Commissioners would be incorporated into the current
schedule of CDMM meetings.

e Mayor Biggs advised that grant making, when returned to the Council
would be undertaken in a public manner with clear record keeping.
Commissioner Caller noted that the directions concerning grants
covered many types of payments and it would be necessary for to
‘grants’ to be properly identified.

Communications - the Board noted:
e significant work on the this element of the action plan while recruitment
of a new Head of Communications was carried out
e the Interim Head of Communications was overseeing the redesign of
the Communications Team in accordance with the LGA review and
staff consultations were currently underway.
e a permanent appointee would take up this post at the end of July.

Property - the Board noted:

e compliance testing using revised protocols was completed at the end of
June.

e some further recommendations were being made in relation to HRA
and a report presented to Cabinet in September 2016.

e community buildings remained an area outstanding. Commissioner
Caller expressed concern that the Council had yet to adopt a corporate
approach in managing property and wished to see evidence that all
service areas were consulting on property matters with the Corporate
Property Team who were appropriately qualified to engage with the
management of all property arrangements. It was agreed that
processes of the Council would be examined to ensure that the
principles were applied consistently across all areas involving property.
A report back would be made in September 2016.

Organisational Culture - the Board noted:

o further progress would be made on the structure of the Clean Up
Team. Commissioner Caller requested a more detailed description of
the matters that this team would address.

e proposals relating to changes to delegations would require a change of
the Council’s constitution. Detailed discussions in this area were
pending and a report back would be made to BVRB in September
2016. It was acknowledged that the Council’s constitution required
strengthening. Commissioner Caller referred to the Secretary of
State’s letter of 11 April 2016 which indicated that delegation of powers
would mark a turning point. Additionally concerns elsewhere had been
expressed to the Secretary concerning a lack of progress in this
regard. Officers acknowledged the areas of concern that had been
identified, these would be investigated and addressed

Page 7 3



BEST VALUE PROGRAMME REVIEW BOARD SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)
QUARTERLY MEETING, 12/07/2016

e a programme of Chief Executive’s Roadshows had been initiated to
widely promote the organisational culture being worked towards and to
receive staff feedback.

e a report with proposals for revised governance would be presented to
General Purposes Committee in September 2016.

RESOLVED

1. That the comments on the draft six-monthly Best Value Plan
progress be noted.

2. That matters highlighted be incorporated into the forward plan

3. That it be noted that the progress update will be updated and
submitted to Cabinet on 6 September 2016 prior to submission
to the Secretary of State

4.3 Best Value Plan Themes and Milestones Forward Plan
The Interim Service Head, Corporate Strategy and Equality introduced the
report. He informed the Board that he action plan hither to enforce was
complete and invited members to consider what matters should be added to

the new plan.
The following were discussed:

e Relevant reports to include proposals for the removal of the directions
e Spotlight Sessions to look at the elements of the Culture Plan, Property
Plan and Communications Plan
e Completed client brief for the New Town Hall, Whitechapel
RESOLVED

That the suggested matters be incorporated into the new Forward Plan.

The meeting ended at 7.20 p.m.

Chair, Mayor John Biggs
Best Value Programme Review Board Quarterly Meeting

Page 8



Agenda Iltem 4.3

Best Value Programme Board

TITLE SERVICE ITEM NO DATE
Best Value Plan | Service Head, Corporate 19™ October 2016
Update Strategy and Equality
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 This report provides an update on the Council’'s Best Value Plan
which responds to the Secretary of State’s Directions. It includes
the Council’s third six-month progress update submitted to the
Secretary of State on 20" September 2016 (Annex A) and the
response from the Secretary of State’s Commissioners (Annex B).
2. FOR THE BOARD TO CONSIDER

The Board is asked to:

3.1

3.2

3.3

1. Consider the Council’s submission to the Secretary of State
(Annex A) and the Commissioners’ response (Annex B).

BACKGROUND

The third 6-monthly update on the Council’s progress in delivering its Best
Value Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State last month. In his
covering letter (included within Annex A), the Mayor highlighted the
considerable progress made in addressing both the specific failings
identified by the Best Value Inspection and the organisational culture that
allowed them to happen. The submission makes clear that the Council is
significantly more outward-looking, transparent and effective than it was a
year ago.

The Commissioners have responded to the Council’s submission and
their letter is attached at Annex B to this report. The Commissioners
have welcomed the progress made. In particular, their letter makes
clear that there is a sense of real and sustained progress on all
elements of the Directions. However, the Commissioners’ letter also
highlights that there is still work to do in embedding cultural and
operational changes.

The Council will continue to deliver on the agreed Best Value Plan and
address the issues underlying the Government's intervention.
Performance will continue to be overseen by the Best Value
Programmed Board. The progress made in recent months provides a
strong foundation for further improvements to be evidenced and

Page 1
Page 9



4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

embedded prior to March 2017.

COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

The Best Value Action Plan is a priority for the Council, and requisite
resources have been identified within the budget in order to deliver the
outcomes.

LEGAL COMMENTS

The Council is a best value authority within the meaning of Part 1 of the
Local Government Act 1999. As a best value authority, the Council
has an obligation under section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 to
“‘make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of
economy, efficiency and effectiveness” (the best value duty).

Where the Secretary of State is satisfied that an authority is not
meeting its best value duty, the Secretary of State may: (1) direct the
authority to take action to bring itself into compliance with that duty; (2)
direct that specified functions be carried out by the Secretary of State
or a nominee and that the authority follow the Secretary of State’s
instructions and provide such assistance as may be required (Local
Government Act 1999). In accordance with this power the Secretary of
State gave directions to the Council on 17 December 2014, 29 April
2015 and 6 May 2015.

The directions are enforceable by the Secretary of State, who may
seek an order in the High Court requiring the Council to remedy any

breach. In the circumstances, it is appropriate for the Council to take

steps to comply with the directions and to monitor its compliance with
the directions.

When taking action in response to the directions, the Council must
have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful conduct under the
Equality Act 2010, the need to advance equality of opportunity and the
need to foster good relations between persons who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not (the public sector equality duty).
Compliance with this duty has been a feature, to the extent relevant, of
the Council’s action in response to the directions.

Annex A: Council’s third 6-month submission to the Secretary of State

Cover letter
Submission

Annex B: Commissioners’ response to the Council’s submission

Page 2
Page 10



Executive Mayor'’s Office

=2

TOWER HAMLETS

Executive Mayor's Office
Tower Hamlets Town Hall
Mulberry Place

5 Clove Crescent

Rt Hon Sajid Javid MP
Department for Communities and Local Government
2 Marsham Street

o o London E14 2BG
Contact: Gulshan Begum
Tel: 020 7364 6971
Fax 020 7364 4999
19 September 2016 mayor@towerhamlets.qov.uk
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk
Dear Secretary of State

Best Value Action Plan six month report
| am writing to provide you with an update of the progress we have made at Tower Hamlets.

The Council has now completed more than 95% of the actions within our agreed Best Value Plan and it
is clear that this is having a positive impact on the performance of the organisation. The Council is
significantly more outward-looking, transparent and effective than it was a year ago.

| also recognise fully the level of improvement required. | recently provided evidence to the CLG Select
Committee on Government interventions. As part of this, | highlighted that it was very clear to me,
following my election in July 2015, that the organisation required radical reform. The Best Value
Inspection highlighted areas of poor practice, which were symptoms of an underlying poor
organisational culture, and inappropriate behavior, that were not always visible from considering key
financial and performance measures. The Council has benefited from the skills and experience of the
appointed Commissioners and | am pleased to report the changes we have made and their impact.

The enclosed submission provides further detail of progress in improving outcomes across a range of
areas. Significantly, there are also strong signs that the Council’'s improvements are being recognised
by local people. The findings of our latest independent Annual Residents Survey were very positive.
For example, there has been a significant increase in overall satisfaction with the Council, as well as
improved ratings for many front-line services.

| believe that the progress we have made means that it is possible to reduce the scope of the existing
Directions. | also recognise that there remain a number of areas where you, as Secretary of State, will
need to seek further assurance over the next six months. | have set out below where there is a strong
case for an immediate return of full local democratic control.

The Council hopes to secure the end of the Direction regarding elections and the appointment of our
Returning Officer. We understand that the Commissioners share our confidence in the ongeing ability
of the borough to deliver fair, well-managed elections. The Chief Executive, as Returning Officer, has
recently overseen the successful delivery of the GLA Elections in May and the EU Referendum in June.
| know that he has worked hard to ensure the Council learns from and embeds lessons from the past to

John Biggs, Executive Mayopggg ghq I;té JOH N MAYOR OF

Tower Hamlets Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent,

Direct 020 7364 6971 | Email mayor@owerhamlets.gov.uk | Web www.towerhamlets gov.uk BIGGS TOWER HA.MLETS



ensure good conduct and confidence in future elections.

As detailed in our previous Best Value submission in March, the Council has fulfilled the Directions in
relation to Statutory Officers. This includes the permanent appeointment to each of the three statutory
posts (Chief Executive, Corporate Director of Resources (s151 Officer) and Director of Law, Probity
and Governance (Monitoring Officer)). In addition, the Council has continued to make permanent
appointments to key Service Head roles, including for Corporate Strategy & Equality and Education &
Partnership.

Regarding the Directions in respect of Procurement, the Council has transformed its approach and the
actions in the Procurement Best Value Action Plan have been successfully delivered. In recent months,
we have implemented a new procurement operating model and there is strong evidence of success,
including in the reduction of off-contract spend. We believe that the relevant Directions should be
removed in respect of Procurement and the Commissioners have indicated support for this.

| am pleased to also report that the Council is fully compliant with the Code of Recommended Practice
on Local Authority Publicity. The Council's new quarterly publication ‘Our East End’ has been well
received and our approach to communications is now more strategic and proactive. Communications
activity is clearly linked to local priorities, there is a strong focus on internal communications and a
growing emphasis on digital as part of a more pluralistic approach to communicating with residents.
The one outstanding Best Value Plan action in respect of communications has been the development
of a fully-costed business plan. A permanent Head of Communications is now in post and has
overseen its development; the Commissioners considered the draft business plan at the Best Value
Board earlier this month. We believe that the relevant Direction can be ended very shortly. | will ensure
that our communications functions are compliant, respectful and not subject of the controversies of the
past.

Significant progress has also been made in relation to grant management, including transitional
arrangements towards Executive decision making. There is a dedicated Grants Scrutiny Sub-
Committee in operation and it is proposed that | (or my delegate) will chair Decision Making Meetings in
public to consider officer recommendations, following scrutiny, on grants. Our proposal, discussed with
the Commissioners, is that this Direction is amended; ending the Executive role of Commissioners and
returning this to the Council for grant decisions. A Direction would remain, with a continuing
Commissioner oversight role. | do appreciate that this has been a particularly contentious area of the
Council’s business and that an incremental return of Council control in this manner is the
Commissioners' preferred approach.

Regarding the Property Direction, there has been considerable improvement in our approach to asset
management. Our focus is now on the small number of outstanding areas where further progress is
required. This includes finalising our approach to community buildings which demonstrates best
consideration, as well as best value, and considering the introduction of a Council asset rental account
model. Over the next period, we are seeking to demonstrate, and substantiate with evidence, that
sufficient progress has been made for the removal of the relevant Direction. | do appreciate that in this
area, while actions remain, the Direction should continue.

Finally, in my letter to the previous Secretary of State six months ago, | identified organisational culture
as the biggest challenge for the Council. There is considerable progress in this area. The Chief
Executive and | have focused particularly on addressing the systematic cultural issues underlying your
Department's intervention. The Council now has an Organisational Culture Plan with a strong focus on
governance, engagement and transformation. The Plan provides a robust framework for our activity
and assessing impact but, more importantly, we are taking action and making a difference.

Page 12



An independent Clear Up Team has been set up to investigate allegations of improper Council decision
making or impropriety in the discharge of Council functions between October 2010 and June 2016.
Our Whistleblowing Policy has been revised and relaunched. Next week’'s Full Council meeting will
consider substantial Constitutional changes, including to clarify the respective roles of the Executive
Mayor and Chief Executive. These amendments will build on the arrangements already introduced to
support the target-setting and appraisal of the Chief Executive.

We are a more transparent organisation in many ways. Decision making is more open, scrutiny has
been enhanced and expanded, including in relation to grants and housing matters. The Council is now
publishing more information and making it more accessible. I've introduced Mayor's Public Assemblies
to offer local people the opportunity to raise issues of concern and get involved in local initiatives.
However, | recognise that we have further work to do. Recent Full Council meetings have not always
been conducted in a manner which reflects the progress we have made more broadly. This issue has
been discussed with Group Leaders and | hope we have achieved a better understanding of the
respect and behaviour needed in future. This does however require all parties to share those views and
time will tell how we have progressed with this. | will continue to work with colleagues across the
Council to endeavour to achieve this objective.

The Commissioners have previously highlighted that some parts of the organisation have found it hard
to accept that things were very badly wrong. | am confident that this ‘corporate denial’ is no longer the
case. Significant changes to the Council's senior management team have taken place over the past
year. Furthermore, the Chief Executive and | have developed a new organisational structure to
reinforce this and direct the shape of future managerial leadership. The Council's proposed new
structure will bring a number of key benefits, including better aligning our managerial and political
leadership and reinforcing a ‘One Council’ approach.

I hope that you will recognise the considerable progress made over the past six months in Tower
Hamlets. As Executive Mayor my priority was, and remains, to make Tower Hamlets Council a more
effective organisation that better serves local people. Implementing the Best Value Plan, and the
oversight of the Commissioners, has played an important role in supporting this. However, we are now
in a position where it is clear that the full-set of Directions, and the corresponding-level of
Commissioners oversight, is no longer required.

The Chief Executive and | had a very useful meeting with your predecessor in May. We would welcome
a further meeting with yourself, and the Commissioners, to review the current arrangements.

Yours sincerely

Page 13



Page 14



Best Value Action Plan

Third 6 monthly update report (September 2016)

The Council is pleased to provide a progress update against the Council’s Best Value Action Plans. In
particular, there has been considerable progress since the last submission in March 2016.

The Council is now in a position to report that more than 95% of the actions within the Best Value Plans
are complete. More significantly, progress has been made in delivering the related outcomes and further
information on this is provided below.

It is also recognised that implementing significant organisational change is a long-term, iterative
process. As such, this update report also addresses issues, which fall outside of the formal Best Value
Plans agreed with the Secretary of State, that have been identified by the Council or the Commissioners
as matters where further work is required and underway.

Procurement

All actions in the Procurement Best Value Action Plan have now been successfully delivered and the
Commissioners have indicated that they are satisfied to recommend to the Secretary of State that the
Directions, in respect of Procurement, are lifted. In recent months, the Council has implemented a new
procurement operating model and there is strong evidence of success, including in the significant
reduction of the number of purchase cards in use, the level of expenditure and off-contract spend.
Activity relating to broader work on declarations of interest, now sits within the Organisational Culture
Best Value Action Plan.

Grants

All actions in the Grants Best Value Action Plan have been delivered and significant progress has been
made in relation to all aspects of grant management, including transitional arrangements towards
Executive decision making. This includes a proposal for the Mayor (or his nominee) to chair the
Decision Making Meetings in public to consider officer recommendations on grants. Discussions are
ongoing with the Commissioners on being in a position for the Direction to now be amended.

Communications

The Council has been fully compliant with the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority
Publicity since May 2016 and the first issue of the new quarterly publication ‘Our East End’ was
published in June. A new Head of Communications has been in post since 25th July. The key
outstanding action in relation to Communications is to finalise the fully-costed business plan required by
the Directions; a draft plan was considered by the Best Value Board in September.

Property

Further progress has been made in this area over recent months. Following the adoption of a new asset
strategy, the Council has implemented a carefully managed disposal programme and a series of rent
reviews. The remaining actions within the Best Value Plan are on track for completion. A key area of
focus over the next period is planning work to support the Council’s approach to Community Buildings
with a report going to Cabinet in October; the implementation plan will be finalised in the autumn, in time
for the charging regime to start in April 2017. In addition, work is progressing on whether an Asset
Rental Account model would be beneficial for the Council.

Organisational Culture
In the Mayor’s State of the Borough Statement to full Council in May 2016, he clearly defined the failings
of the previous culture and reinforced the need to rebuild strength and confidence in the Council’s

Page 15




management, members and workforce. These views echoed those made by the Commissioners,
including that ‘a very different culture and approach is required to embed the changes necessary’.

The Council’s organisational culture is improving, and there has been a considerable step-change in
recent months. We are a more outward looking Council, actively involved in national and sub-regional
discussions, and the authority has already made significant progress in relation to transparency.
Significantly, a new Organisational Culture Plan has been developed and discussed with the
Commissioners that draws together all aspects of the work already underway and required. It provides a
robust framework to support current and future activity in this area, clearly setting out the Council’s
future aims and how it will embed and track progress. Feedback from the Commissioners is being
incorporated into an updated draft of the Plan, including the timescales for delivery. There has also
been further development of the Council’s Transformation Plan focusing on outcomes, including a new
Workforce Strategy with significant emphasis on areas such as leadership, staff engagement and core
values.

The Council’s approach to Whistleblowing has been reviewed and improved with a revised procedure
accessible on the Council’s intranet and website for use by staff and the public. Further work is
underway. A Whistleblowing Charter is the next step and an independent Programme Manager will be
procured to establish the charter, deliver training and foster greater trust across the organisation. In
addition, the Programme Manager will lead a new time-limited clear up team which has been
established to conduct a review of any unconsidered allegations of improper Council decision making or
impropriety in the discharge of Council functions arising between October 2010 and June 2016. The
Programme Manager will be responsible for driving this work forward and the work of the clear up team
will be overseen by the Clear Up Board comprising the three statutory officers and a co-opted
Commissioner.

The Commissioners have identified delegation of powers to the Chief Executive as an area requiring
further progress. The Constitution has been reviewed by the Monitoring Officer and, within that review,
changes have been identified to set out the respective functions of the Chief Executive and Mayor and
how they should work together in greater detail so that this will be broadly comparable with other
Councils with Executive Mayors. Following further constructive discussions between the
Commissioners, the Mayor, Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer regarding the Chief Executive taking
extremely urgent decisions, as well as decisions where the Mayor is unable to act for whatever reason,
further revisions to the constitution are being made. In addition to the existing checks and balances in
the Constitution regarding implementation of decisions, it is also intended that the Chief Executive will
have the power to make a written report to the Mayor, which the Mayor must consider, regarding the
implementation of any individual decision. Changes to the Constitution will be considered by full Council
later in September.

Elections

All actions in the Elections Best Value Action Plan have been successfully completed. The GLA and
London Mayoral Elections were successfully delivered in May 2016, as was the EU Referendum on 23"
June. The Commissioners noted in a letter to the Executive Mayor (22" March 2016) that the Council
had devoted significant additional expenditure to delivering recent elections which is far above the level
of similar local authorities. They noted the key challenge for Electoral Services in Tower Hamlets going
forward is to continue to deliver a ‘fair and safe electoral event within more normal allocation of
resources’. The Council is committed to striking the right balance between reducing spend and
maintaining fair and safe elections.

Page 16



http://moderngov.towerhamlets.gov.uk/documents/s85416/Annex%20B.pdf

Overall progress against Best Value Action Plans

Grants Procurement Comms Property Org Culture Elections
100% 100% 100%

The charts below shows progress against the total number of milestones identified within the Best Value
Plans first agreed with the Secretary of State in March 2015. It demonstrates a high level of progress —
further detail of key achievements and corresponding outcomes are provided in the following sections.

45 -
40 -

35 -
30 -
25 -
20 -
15 ~
10 -
0 . . . . .

Grants Procurement Comms Property Org Culture Elections

(6]
1

¥ Completed BV Actions Ongoing BV Actions

Page 17




Best Value Area Procurement

Progress Summary

Background
The Council’s arrangements for procurement lacked consistency and rigour in a number of areas which

led to weaknesses in internal control and concerns regarding appropriate member engagement in the
procurement process. The key areas of concern included lack of documentation that provided an audit
trail, delays in the award of contracts; this led to the high use of waivers and a lack of monitoring of and
compliance with procurement procedures. Maintenance of departmental contract registers was also
considered insufficient and collectively these deficiencies undermined the integrity of the Council’s
procurement arrangements.

The Best Value Procurement action plan aimed to deliver a range of immediate improvements as well as
the broader transformation of the council’s procurement practices. The action plan was developed with
consideration of the wider reform of public sector procurement recently implemented through the new
Public Procurement Regulations 2015, Local Government Transparency Code and the launch of the
National Procurement Strategy 2015.

The PwC inspection that led to the Procurement Directions devotes a whole section (chapter 7) to the
“Processes and practices for entering into contracts”. It concluded that contracting “takes place within a
highly structured and regulated environment, governed as applicable inter alia by EU procurement rules,
the Authority’s Constitution and its documented procurement procedures”. Whilst the inspection
concluded the overall written procurement policies and procedures were sound, the main criticisms were
as follows:

A prevalent lack of audit trail in procurement documentation

Lack of evidence of tollgate reviews in a significant minority of procurements

High numbers of waivers, approved through Corporate Directors’ Actions

A requirement for contracts to be awarded in consultation with the Mayor, resulting in
unnecessary delays in the award of contracts

Lack of maintenance of complete contracts’ registers by directorates; and

e Lack of monitoring by the central procurement function of the adherence of directorates to
procurement procedures in their areas.

The Procurement Action Plan was structured around five key themes with an aim to transform the way
the council undertakes procurement activities and engages with its suppliers. The five key themes were
Strategy and Vision; Organisational Development; Governance, Systems and Procedures; Category
Management and Commercial, Contracts and Risk Management.

In January 2014, following an end-to-end review of our procurement process and procedures, a refreshed
set of procurement procedures were launched to incorporate the recommendations from a competitive
tendering audit, strengthen the governance process, embed the Procurement Policy Imperatives and re-
channel all devolved procurement activity over £25,000 through the Corporate Procurement Service.
Considerable work followed to transform the council’s procurement activity in line with the activities and
milestones set out in the Best Value Action Plan.

Key achievements
o Detailed analysis of all third party expenditure for the financial year 2014-15 completed to identify
key categories of third party spend and establish a clear category management strategy to ensure
value for money (VFM) for these categories of spend, reduce costs and oversupply.
e New Directorate Procurement Dashboards developed to identify opportunities for collaboration
and savings from the council’s third party expenditure.

Page 18



e New central contracts register linked to contract award implemented to capture all contracts above
£25,000 including all procurement waivers.

¢ New Supply Chain Ethical Code of Conduct developed and approved to strengthen adherence to
ethical standards by suppliers delivering public services on behalf of the council.

e New procurement training programme developed to improve procurement knowledge and skills
across the organisation. Training completed by 250 officers at end of March 2016 and provided on
an on-going basis.

e New Central Procurement Service introduced to further strengthen the role of corporate
procurement and to deliver improved value for money from the council’s third party expenditure.

¢ Improved Finance and Procurement controls introduced and implemented to increase compliance
with, and transparency of, spend across the organisation.

e New supplier risk management initiative introduced (pre and post appointment).

e Procurement Procedures refreshed to reflect changes introduced through the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 and further strengthen internal compliance.

e New Procurement Strategy with commitments to develop a broader Commissioning and
Procurement Strategy by the end of the current financial year.

e New e-sourcing system being rolled out which will require all procurement opportunities to be
tendered through a single e-tendering system that is integrated with the Councils financial
systems.

Successful implementation of the action plan has resulted in ensuring 92% of our procurement spend is
under contract (FY15/16), 98% of all applicable contracts include London Living Wage and 49% of our
contracts include employment and community benefits for our residents.

Areas where work continues to progress

We recognise there is more work to be done is some specific areas to fully embed the transformation of
this service. There is a particular focus on the following areas:

Purchase Cards

The current Purchase Card system was introduced by the Council in 2008 as a convenient and cost
effective method of purchasing low value goods and services. There are a number of benefits in using
Purchase Cards such as reducing procurement processing times and supporting the Government’s
prompt payment initiative for Small and Medium Enterprises. An internal audit review of purchase cards
identified some cards to have been misused in some parts of the Council. We have responded to this by
significantly strengthening controls around the issue of new cards, comprehensively reviewing the use of
existing cards, restricting the category of spend under which cards can be used and enhancing
monitoring and reporting arrangements to validate all expenditure to ensure it is legitimate and in
accordance with financial regulations. The number of cards and their use are now reviewed on an annual
basis, with an annual internal audit of purchase cards.

Through our Category Management activities considerable work has been undertaken to control the use
of purchasing card expenditure and re-direct spend through appropriate contracts. The improved controls,
implemented as part of the Best Value Action Plan, have helped to reduce spend through purchase cards
considerably from almost £7 million in 2008/09 to just over £1 million in 2015/16. Total Council spend
through purchase cards is now just 0.33% of the overall £312m annual procurement spend and is mainly
used for purchasing approved items such as training, travel, and leisure activities. Monthly monitoring of
expenditure is now fully embedded and as part of the implementation of our new e-sourcing system,
targets have been set to further reduce the overall spend as well the number of cards in circulation. Our
target for 16/17 and the actual information for the two previous years is set out in the table below.

16/17

13/14 14/15 15/16 (Target)

Spend (£) 1,589,803 | 1,409,079 | 1,034,117 800,000
Card Holders 269 254 198 150

Page 19




Procurement Waivers and Member Engagement

Under the Council’s Financial Regulations, Corporate Directors had delegated authority to approve
procurement waivers up to the limit of £250,000. Following the launch of the revised procurement
procedures in January 2014, and subsequent Best Value Procurement Action Plan, we have
strengthened our internal procedures and controls including the conditions under which a waiver is
granted. We have also reduced the threshold for procurement waiver to align with the EU procurement
threshold for Supplies and Services (£164,176).

Clear written procedures and guidance are in place for the administration and control of the Corporate
Directors’ delegated powers. Where a waiver is required, the originating officer must fully justify how the
proposed procurement process will represent overall best value and how it complies with the Council’s
procurement rules as well as the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. All procurement waivers require
approval from the relevant Service Head, Directorate Finance Manager, Head of Procurement, Head of
Legal Services and the originating Corporate Director. The number of procurement waivers has been
substantially reduced by 70% from 218 in 13/14 to 65 at the end of March 2016.

The number of waivers finally approved during 2015/16 was slightly higher than the original target of 60.
The analysis of those approved identified 35 that were required to enable an extension to existing
contracts due to be re-commissioned. The extensions were primarily required due to delayed or deferred
executive decision making in previous years, without the required evidence or justification for the delay or
deferral. This left insufficient time to undertake the full and proper procurement process before the
contract expiry date. The backlog of contracts needing to be re-procured has reduced significantly and
the Council now produces a comprehensive rolling Contracts Forward Plan that is presented to Cabinet
on a quarterly basis, detailing all key contracts due to expire in the following two to three years. This
ensures effective forward planning of the Council’s commissioning and procurement activity.

The previous restriction on three year contract terms has been relaxed and where appropriate contracts
have been approved by Cabinet to be procured for longer periods. Further, the requirement for the
contract to be awarded ‘in consultation with the Mayor has also been removed resulting in a more
effective reporting process. A new e-sourcing system has been rolled out which requires the evaluation
of all tenders to be completed on-line with a full audit trail of all procurement activity within a central
system. The introduction of the online tender evaluation will address the issues raised in the PWC report.

We have reviewed the waivers that were approved during 2015/16 and based on that analysis we have
set new targets to further reduce the number of procurement waivers for 2016/17 as set out in the table
below. This takes account of the planned procurements and acknowledges that a smaller number of
contract extensions will be required during 2016/17.

16/17
13/14 14/15 15/16 (Target)
Waivers 218 114 65 45

Declarations of Interest

Historically, the council had arrangements for officers to declare conflicts of interest by exception,
resulting in officers only making declarations where conflicts of interest were envisaged. This did not
provide sufficient assurance that the failure to comply or the failure to disclose would be routinely
identified and followed up.

The new arrangements are mandatory and require officers to complete declarations of interest at least
annually, including nil returns. Specifically, within procurement, mandatory arrangements have been put
in place for declarations of interest to be formally signed off at key stages of the procurement cycle and to
be formally recorded.

The requirement for declarations of interest has been incorporated at different stages of the entire
procurement process for both employees and suppliers. Employee declarations of interest are recorded
through the Council’'s HR system and updated annually. Organisations bidding for Council contract

Page 20




opportunities are required to declare interests at the Pre-Qualification Stage (PQQ) as well as at the
Invitation to Tender (ITT) stage. There is a requirement for officers, as well contractors acting on behalf
of the Council, in a procurement exercise to record interests at various stages of the procurement
process including;

= Initiation stage: the procurement initiation form requires officers to confirm completion of
declaration of interest on the HR system and to provide evidence, for a procurement declaration of
interest to be completed.

= Evaluation stage: all members of the panel are required to sign the evaluation matrix and confirm
that they do not have any conflict of interest that would prevent their full and unprejudiced
participation in the procurement process.

The requirement to implement appropriate declarations of interest has been fully implemented. The new
process has been communicated through various mediums including the Council’s intranet, staff
magazine and as part of the procurement process to officers and suppliers. The mandatory arrangements
put in place ensure compliance through enhanced management oversight and regular auditing of the
declarations.

Outstanding BV Completed BV

Procurement Procurement
Actions Actions
0 26

Page 21




Best Value Area Grants

Progress Summary

Background
All outstanding actions in the Grants Best Value Action Plan have now been completed, with a series of

operational improvements made to further enhance the Council’s grants functions. Considerable work
has been undertaken over the last 18 months to review and develop new approaches to, and processes
for, grant making with the Commissioners. The proposals that have been developed and implemented
included input from the Mayor and Deputy Mayor for Third Sector and take account of the involvement of
Overview and Scrutiny Committee as a cross party forum and members more generally, as well as from
the voluntary and community sector.

Key Achievements

The Council’'s Cabinet has agreed a new Voluntary and Community Sector Strategy, setting out a
new strategic approach to the sector, including a move from grants to a commissioning based
approach to secure outcomes that are fully aligned to the Council’s strategic priorities. The
Strategy was developed with input from, and in consultation with, local voluntary sector
organisations.

While progress was slow to agree a mechanism for cross party oversight of grant allocations, the
Grants Sub-Committee of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee was established in April 2016
and is now fully operational, having met three times. The Committee ensures that cross party
Members have an input into timely, transparent decision making in relation to grants, including the
development of grant scheme objectives and criteria and a review of performance.

A work programme has been developed which aligns to the grants decision making process to
ensure cross party feedback can feed into the decision making process. Members of the
Committee have been given comprehensive governance related training including enhanced
disclosure of interests.

Proposals for Executive decision making on grants, following the departure of the Commissioners,
have been agreed.

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor have been co-opted onto the Commissioners Decision Making
Meeting for grants which takes place in public.

A report setting out the transitional arrangements for the Mayor to chair the Grants Decision
Making Meeting was considered and approved in July and implemented from September.

The Mainstream Grants Programme has completed its first three delivery periods (September
2015 - June 2016) and officers have assessed against agreed output and outcome targets. A
detailed performance report has been produced as part of the regular performance monitoring and
reporting cycle that has been established for the MSG programme. Improvements to the
performance monitoring arrangements and the performance report continue to be made, including
feedback from the voluntary and community sector and Overview and Scrutiny to ensure that the
monitoring and reporting is risk based, proportionate and adds value.

A procurement process to secure a provider to independently review mainstream grant giving
between 2012/15, has been undertaken and eight bids were evaluated. A successful supplier has
been appointed and started work in June 2016.

The council continues to implement a more strategic and coordinated approach to grant
management and work to ensure that the council’s grant arrangements are co-ordinated and
aligned is on-going with all service areas through the review of all grants across the Council. The
review is identifying which grant schemes will remain and which will be developed as a
commissioned service and the timeframe within the changes will be made.

The Cohesion Theme of Mainstream Grants is the first to become a commissioned service from
April 2017. The scope and approach is being co-produced with the voluntary and community
sector in line with the commitment made in the Council’s VCS Strategy.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will review the Sub-Committee on grants in September
2016 to consider any changes or enhancements based on the first three meetings.

To further strengthen and develop the Council’s grants function an independent external review of

Page 22




the end to end processes relating to grant making, monitoring and reporting has been
commissioned. The review will consider the team structure, roles and responsibilities, skills and
knowledge requirements, as well as the policies, procedures and processes. The review will also
cover the grants system GIFTs with a view to implementing the latest web-based version which
will significantly enhance monitoring and reporting capabilities and further improve the
accessibility and transparency of grants information.

Work on improving transparency in relation to grants has been successful to date and is
continuing. Grant decision making taking place in public demonstrates openness and has been
well received throughout the local voluntary and community sector. The new public Grants
Information Portal continues to provide community access to a comprehensive range of data
including organisation and project level information, which will be further enhanced by the web-
based GIFTs system.

Outstanding BV Completed BV
Grants Actions Grants Actions

0 35

Page 23




Best Value Area Communications

Progress Summary

Background
Communications in Tower Hamlets had a history of being reactive with a heavy reliance on the council’s

weekly publication, East End Life. Many of the messages and activities being communicated were
determined by services’ willingness and ability to pay and there was little use of insight or data to
identify appropriate communication channels and support the delivery of effective communications
campaigns. Since the Best Value Action Plan was introduced there has been significant progress in
reforming the way the Council deals with internal and external publicity management.

Key achievements

e A new Communications Strategy and a model for communications work for 2016/7 which
ensures that communications activity is clearly linked to the Strategic Plan and residents’
priorities as set out in the Annual Residents’ Survey has been developed. In addition, the council
used feedback from an LGA review of its communications activity to develop its own digital
communications and a more pluralistic approach to communicating with residents;

¢ A new Content Management System was procured to improve access to, and user experience of
the council’s website, and enable us to improve our SOCITM rating. The new system went live
as scheduled in December 2015;

¢ A new e-newsletter was launched on 24 March 2016, and is being distributed regularly to just
under 10,000 residents with plans to further drive up the circulation list;

e The council has been compliant with the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority
publicity since 18 May 2016, with the final edition of East End Life published on 16 May 2016;

e A new quarterly publication, Our East End, was developed and launched on 13 June 2016 with
an increased distribution of 120,000 to reflect the growth in population since the initial production
of East End Life;

¢ The Communications Protocol has been updated, agreed by the Corporate Management Team
(CMT) and promoted widely via internal communications channels;

¢ Training on the Communications Protocol has been delivered to relevant Mayor’s Office staff
(including new members of staff);

e The service has rolled out of the Print and Design framework. The majority of the council’s
marketing collateral now goes through Communications Service enabling us to achieve
significant savings for the council as a whole;

¢ A Digital Communications Strategy has been developed and agreed by CMT to support the
emerging Digital Strategy;

e \We have a continued focus on engagement via social media, which has seen a significant
increase in the numbers of residents engaging with the council through Twitter, Facebook and
Instagram;

o We are focusing on the ongoing delivery of communications campaigns for directorates aligned
with council and Mayoral priorities, and residents’ priorities as reflected in the Annual Residents’
Survey;

¢ A new Head of Communications has been appointed and has been in post from since 25 July
2016.

Measurable outcomes for existing work
A set of outcomes have been designed to measure the effectiveness of the work the service carries out.
They include:
o E-newsletters are regularly sent out (latest figures are to just under 10,000 subscribers). The
(government) industry standard is for an open rate of 22.38 per cent, click rate of 2.7 per cent.
Our average open rate is 40 per cent with a click rate of 7.7 per cent. E-newsletter #7 had an
open rate of 46.9 per cent and a click rate of 16.9 per cent. These rates are monitored for each

Page 24




e-newsletter. 89 per cent positive/neutral coverage of the council in the media as assessed in
our quarterly performance monitoring reports;

¢ 100 per cent of relevant Mayor’s Office staff received training on Communications Protocol;

e Audit of compliance with Communications Protocol to provide substantial assurance -
substantial assurance awarded;

e Target of 10,000 Twitter followers by end of 2015 met, currently we have over 11,500 followers.

Areas where work continues to progress

Work is ongoing to implement the new Communications Strategy — the current focus is to ensure the
Communications Strategy is agreed by CMT and the Mayor and includes clear timelines, outputs and
outcomes. The proposed campaigns that are set out in the Strategy were presented to the Mayor,
Cabinet and CMT at a joint workshop in May and the Communications Service.

A restructure of the Communications Service started in September to implement a new, effective
structure in line with the Council’s organisational change procedures. This will ensure the service is best
placed to deliver the Communications Strategy, reflect the priorities of the council and drive important
and cost effective initiatives, such as the use of our e-newsletter.

Outstanding Best Value Actions

There is only one outstanding action in relation to the Communications Best Value Action Plan which is
the development of a fully-costed business plan. The business plan was considered by the Best Value
Board in September and will be finalised in the next three months.

Outstanding BV Completed BV
Communications Communications
Actions Actions

1 29

Page 25




Best Value Area Property

Progress Summary

Background
The council owns, occupies or maintains around 860 non-HRA properties, valued at £1bn, located

within the borough. The council also owns around £800m of HRA properties (the housing element is
managed and maintained by Tower Hamlets Homes, the council’'s arms-length management
organisation) as well as a further £50m of community assets. Considerable progress has been made to
deliver the Property Best Value Plan — the majority of actions are complete.

Key achievements

The disposals and lettings protocol was adopted by Cabinet in April 2015 and the s151 officer also
refreshed the financial instructions relating to the disposal of assets. These are now aligned. This
protocol and the associated financial instructions are now an integral part of the team’s processes when
letting or disposing of property. The application of the protocol and the instructions will be tested through
the council’s rolling programme of audits. The audit of the first disposal since the adoption of the
process is nearing completion and the report will be available in the next few weeks.

The Mayor, in Cabinet, has approved the principles behind the Community Buildings: Allocation and
Charging policy as well as the Asset Strategy: Scoping, Principles & Priorities paper. Both have been
the subject of extensive discussion with the Commissioners and with Members.

The adoption of the Asset Strategy has set out a framework for how the Council will determine its
ongoing and future property needs, and move to a more fit for purpose, effective and efficient estate for
the future. A high level operational property review is in the process of being commissioned. This will
take a broad look at the council’s estate to identify those parts of it that represent the poorest
performers, in terms of cost to the council. Those sites would then be scrutinised further and services
asked to justify their continued retention. The aim is to develop a transparent approach to demonstrating
the cost of poor premises, and to focus challenge to the areas of greatest potential early gain.

Service areas across the council are also being asked to submit their service delivery plans in order to
allow a review of their property needs to be undertaken. These reviews are being managed by the Asset
Management Board, which has representatives from all council directorates on it.

The Community Buildings: Allocation and Charging policy has also set out a framework for the future
management of the council’s portfolio of community buildings. This includes reaffirming a number of
principles, including rental for exclusive possession leases being set at the open market value (for
community use), signed agreements needing to be in place, and ensuring a clear demarcation of
responsibilities is agreed between the council and the tenant/user. A further piece of work is being done
by the Council to identify how the council might assess, quantify and recognise the community benefits
being delivered by some tenants. This will be in line with the CLG approach to the use of community
assets and co-produced with representatives of the of the voluntary and community sector.

As part of the Community Buildings: Allocation and Charging policy, officers from the Asset
Management team have carried out a review of all the council’s community buildings, to better
understand the activities that take place, assess the condition of the building, and carry out a survey
with a view to eventually moving the tenants onto an open market rent or offer them the use of the
space in a new community hub (see below). Visits have been completed to all of the buildings within the
portfolio and there is broad support for the proposal to move tenants onto leases — albeit there are some
concerns about the rent levels. A number of leases/lease extensions have been concluded recently, all
on open market rental. The outcome of this review will be reported back to Cabinet in October.

Page 26




Officers will also be proposing that the council create a number of ‘community hubs’. These will provide
low-cost and flexible spaces for local community groups and TRASs to use on a sessional and shared
basis, either based on a licence or a hire agreement. This will increase utilisation levels of the
community buildings estate and ensure there are appropriate usage/property agreements in place for all
building users/tenants. The creation of these hubs will also generate surplus properties as existing
tenants move out of their current premises. The details of this will be contained within the Cabinet report
and will be the subject of consultation in order to ascertain what the sector wishes to see in such a set-
up. However, initial soundings of the sector indicate there is strong support for this.

One of the key challenges for the service, but also for the Council, will be the delivery of a new civic
centre. The council purchased the Royal London Hospital site in February 2014 for this purpose and this
site was confirmed as the preferred location by the Mayor in Cabinet in November 2015. Officers
undertook a procurement exercise to appoint an architect-led multi-disciplinary design team. Stirling
prize-winning firm, Allford Hall Monaghan Morris, were appointed following a highly competitive
procurement exercise. The first iteration of the client brief is nearing completion and the design team are
progressing their work. The site surveys are also being instructed and undertaken.

Outcome measures:
Some of the high level outcomes, that the delivery of the property section of the best value action plan
aims to achieve, are:
¢ Own and occupy fewer buildings
e Reduce running costs of our buildings
¢ Maximise returns from income producing properties
e Increase occupancy levels of our buildings
e Maximise opportunities for co-location of services
¢ Review assets to identify other possible uses (housing, education etc.)
e |dentify efficiencies in commercial estate management
e Improve use of planning gain
¢ Develop property information

These outcomes will be tracked by the following measures:
e Occupancy per M2
¢ Quantity of shared floor space in M2
e Total floor space in M2
e Number of interests disposed of and capital receipts delivered
¢ Positive decisions being made to retain and invest
¢ Positive decision being made to secure new property/long term assets
¢ Running costs per M2
¢ Total income per M2 from income generating assets
e Development of property information will enable targets to be set for: Improvements to average
running costs; Annual revenue savings; Capital receipts that can be generated

Qutstanding Best Value Actions

In addition to work in relation to Community Buildings highlighted above, there are three outstanding
Best Value Property Actions.

o Compliance testing with revised protocols - Undertaken through the planned audit process. This
is 80% complete and the fieldwork for the audit has taken place and the report is expected within
the next few weeks.

e Report to CMT (and Cabinet if appropriate) to consider the introduction of an asset rental
account (following implementation and embedding of Corporate Landlord Model) has been
delayed - officers have been working to identify the resources to carry out this piece of work.
Following the appointment of a new Head of Asset Management, this should now proceed at
pace.

¢ The associated report back to the Commissioners on the asset rental account models has also
been delayed as a result of the above.

Page 27




Outstanding BV
Property Actions

Completed BV
Property Actions

3

33

Page 28




Overall Delivery
Best Value Area Organisational Culture Status: GREEN

Progress Summary

Background
It is widely recognised that Tower Hamlets has been through a difficult and turbulent period. Member /

officer relationships did not always display effective collaboration. A prolonged period of instability, with
a number of interim appointments in the most senior roles, had an impact on the organisation’s ability to
communicate and maintain a shared vision. The council was often too inward focused when it should
have been seeking to share, compare and learn from other areas. Investors in People (liP)
assessments in 2014 and 2015 both identified that senior leaders needed to articulate and model
effective behaviours and that, in some areas, staff were not being managed in-line with organisational
values.

Organisational culture is recognised as a key component in moving the council forward. The aims of
the Organisational Culture Action Plan are to: ensure that the culture of the organisation continues to be
one which strives for continuous improvement; engage and invest in staff; ensure relationships between
groups of members and between members and officers are professional, respectful, open and honest
and rebuild trust in the areas where this has, or is perceived to have, broken down.

The key outcomes we are looking to achieve are:

o Staff engaged with and committed to delivering the Council’s vision and priorities

e Improved clarity and understanding of formal roles and responsibilities of the Executive, non-
Executive and senior officers of the Council in a Mayoral system

o Effective working relationships between elected members, and between elected members and
senior officers, to enable all to work together to achieve the best outcomes for Tower Hamlets
and its residents

¢ A shared commitment to a set of agreed behaviours and cultural values to underpin formal roles
and responsibilities

e A sustainable approach to maintaining and refreshing this shared commitment

Key achievements
A number of the actions detailed in the action plan have been completed and improvements are already
visible:

e Members are working more effectively across party lines. The Mayor’s Transparency Protocol,
and the Overview and Scrutiny Transparency Commission, have supported greater levels of
openness around decision making and political leadership.

e The council has been working across London and with neighbouring boroughs on the
development of devolution and joint working proposals.

e Staff communication is improving and more innovative methods of engagement are helping to
close the gap between senior leaders and the workforce; creating more of a dialogue.

Areas where work continues to progress

Although these improvements are positive, culture change is a long term process and there remain a
number of key elements that must be embedded in the organisation. Research shows that for people to
be fully engaged in the purpose, strategy and values or their organisation, they need to be consulted
and have input from the outset. Over the summer, engagement has been taking place with staff and
members to develop a new set of core values and a cultural mission statement to encompass the whole
organisational culture programme. In addition, work will take place to review the mechanisms and
processes with which we engage with staff, ensuring that we have effective ways to communicate,
consult and gather feedback from the workforce. These elements will be crucial for embedding other
actions and improvements that are implemented as part of the programme.

In addition to consultation and engagement, delivering effective culture change requires new behaviours
and working practices to be role modelled. People tend to act on what they see, not what they are told

Page 29




and visible, transparent leadership is vital for the organisation to progress. This role modelled leadership
is already evident with the Mayor and Chief Executive, and further progress has been made with the
Senior Leadership Team and Members through the work with Solace. Leadership development is also
reflected in the Workforce Strategy and a number of actions seek to create effective workforce role
models.

It is recognised that it is the responsibility of all members and managers to ensure that values,
behaviours and procedures are consistent with the council’s cultural vision. Behaviours and actions that
do not fit with the core values will be tackled and addressed.

The Council’s Organisation Culture Plan is based around four work streams (2 primary and 2
contributory). Progress updates are provided to the Corporate Management Team, in its role as
Transformation Board, on a quarterly basis, or by exception where actions are not expected to meet the
agreed timeline. Each work stream is led by a member of CMT to ensure interaction between the
streams, maintaining a clear and collaborative vision.

The first work stream is overseen by a cross-party, member and officer working group, the Governance

Review Working Group, and was originally proposed under the Best Value Improvement Plan. This

work stream focuses on the following:

» Creating a more transparent and open organisation

» Improving the clarity and understanding of formal roles and responsibilities in a mayoral system

» Building more effective working relationships between elected members and between members and
senior officers

» Fostering a shared commitment to a set of agreed behaviours and cultural values to underpin formal
roles and responsibilities

» A sustainable approach to maintaining and refreshing this shared commitment

The second work stream is Organisational Transformation, which focuses on improvements in relation
to people, ICT, facilities and efficiency savings. Improvements in these areas are crucial if the council is
to overturn the silo and bureaucratic working where it exists. Developing agile services requires
members and officers to be responsive, flexible and efficient, and the use of technology will have an
important role in the achievement of this.

In addition, there are two contributory work streams. These focus on specific areas that have been
highlighted through the work undertaken by Solace and elsewhere: member/officer relationships and
delegation of powers. Both work streams aim to improve collaborative working, trust and role modelled
leadership behaviours that will have an impact on the wider workforce.

The Organisational Culture Plan is a work programme to overhaul the culture of the organisation and,
as such, work will be ongoing for some time in each of the work streams. Feedback from the
Commissioners has been incorporated into an updated version of the Plan, including the timescales for
delivery. The change programme is purposefully iterative and evolving. The programme will be reviewed
every six months and a ‘health check’ undertaken. This will provide an indication of progress and
additional areas of focus to maintain the cultural development.

The Organisation Culture Plan incorporates, and supersedes, the Organisation Culture Best Value Plan
agreed in March 2015, including the two outstanding actions which are being addressed through the
Governance Review Working Group.
e Rebuilding elected member relationships - Develop an action plan to respond to
recommendations of the review and deliver and monitor action plan
e Ensuring member and officer relations are appropriately conducted and constructive — An annual
independently-commissioned review and report on officer/member grievances for review by
HoPS and the respective Group Leaders making recommendations specific to minimising
instances of officer-member grievances.

Page 30




Outstanding BV
Organisational
Culture Actions

Completed
Organisational
Culture Actions

2

38

Page 31




This page is intentionally left blank



namiers COMMISSIONERS

Enquiries to:

Tower Hamlets Commissioners
Tower Hamlets Town Hall

6th Floor Mulberry Place

5 Clove Crescent

London
E14 2BG
John Biggs, Executive Mayor of Tower Hamlets
Executive Mayor's Office Commissioners@lowerhamiets.gov.uk
Tower Hamlets Town Hall
Mulberry Place www towerhamlets.gov.uk
5 Clove Crescent
London
E14 2BG

cc. Rt. Hon. Sajid Javid MP, Secretary of State for
Communities and Local Government

Councillor Peter Golds, Leader of the Conservative
Group

Councillor Oliur Rahman, Leader of the Independent
Group

30 September 2016
Dear Mayor,

Commissioners' response to Best Value Action Plan Six Month report dated 19
September 2016

Commissioners welcome the progress that the London Berough of Tower Hamlets
has made, which is reported in the above update. For the first time since the Council
entered the Direction regime there is a sense of real and sustained progress on all
elements of the Directions and a number of long outstanding actions have now been
addressed. There is still work to do in embedding the changes, both cultural and
operational, into the ethos and working practices of the Council but, with consistent
and determined leadership at both political and officer levels, the path to exiting the
Directions now appears to be achievable. Commissioners attribute this progress to
the development of an effective partnership between the political and officer
leadership of the Council and the removal of blocks to progress, both operational and
personal. There is still much to be done and the Council needs to guard against
overoptimistic assessments particularly recognising that the establishment of a
detailed plan is a waypoint on the journey, and these detailed plans need to be
incorporated into the overall Best Value Plan process and implemented.

The Council also needs to take a long hard look at itself in the way it demonstrates
democracy in action. Recent Council meetings have not been edifying spectacles
and each Councillor has a personal responsibility to ensure that the relevant
democratic forum is used for the intended purpose.

There are also lessons to be learned from two external reports, the Communities and

Local Government Select Committee review and Sir Eric Pickles review into Electoral
Fraud. We will refer to these later in this response.

I3>age 33



namters COMMISSIONERS

The Additional Directions

In our March 2016 letter, we highlighted 2 key issues, which had been long
outstanding. We are pleased to acknowledge that, in our judgement, these have
been satisfactorily discharged. The Council has now completed the first element of a
proper appraisal process for its Head of Paid Service, on a cross party basis, by
establishing the initial set of targets. The Council has also now formally approved the
delegation of powers to the Chief Executive which provide for safeguards against any
future attempt to mismanage the Authority.

The Mela was returned to Council control in a new location and reports indicate that it
was well organised and received. We appreciate the hard work of your officers to

deliver this political objective in a relatively short time and we wish the event every
success in the future.

As a consequence, we are now in a position to advise the Secretary of State that the
outstanding actions have been satisfactorily complied with and to recommend that
the Additional Directions can be treated as discharged.

December 2014 Directions

Annex B
Elections

This Direction provides the power for Commissioners to appoint and dismiss the
Council’'s Returning Officer, removing that power from the Council.

We approved the appointment of your Chief Executive, Mr Will Tuckley, as the
Council's Returning Officer and acknowledge the successful delivery of both the GLA
Elections and the EU Referendum in the Borough. However the biggest electoral
challenge facing Tower Hamlets is the successful delivery of the local Mayoral and
Council elections in 2018.

Much has come to light as a consequence of the Election Court hearing brought by
private electors. However, not all those involved have had their actions fully
investigated and been held to account. We have followed the Metropolitan Police
Service's investigation closely and were disappointed to learn that, following the
Election Court judgement, no new police interviews were undertaken and witness
statements, although not relied on by the Court, were not followed up or reviewed.
Further, the conclusions of the High Court hearing on the Judicial Review appear not
to have been considered. It is also clear that, whilst the Crown Prosecution Service
was involved, no file was produced for them to take a formal decision on prosecution.
To the outside world the overall outcome of the investigations can only look like
justice denied and a taint still hangs over specific election outcomes.

It is of importance to Commissioners that the forthcoming local elections be
administered and conducted by the Returning Officer in a way which, as far as
possible, provides confidence to electors that they are participating in a free and fair
election where the result is a true reflection of the aggregate of each individual
elector’s ballot.

Page 34



navies COMMISSIONERS

This requires the Returning Officer to select, train, deploy and utilise staff who can be
trusted to act fairly and impartially at every stage in the process and be seen to do
so. It will require vigilance in and around polling stations to prevent intimidation and
undue influence which may run counter to some cultural norms and to accept that
English is the only language permitted to be used in electoral transactions by the
Returning Officer and his staff.

Many of the recommendations in Sir Eric Pickles’ review reflect changes that have
already been put in place in the Borough. We commend to the Returning Officer an
approach which implements other recommendations, unless current law explicitly
prohibits it, for the next elections. In particular we would commend to the political
parties and independent candidates who are standing a voluntary agreement on the
handling of postal ballots and that the Returning Officer gives suitable publicity to
those who adhere to such an agreement.

None of this can be controlled by Commissioners using the powers provided under
the Directions and we therefore intend to advise the Secretary of State that we do not
see a case for continuing to hold this power and it should be returned to the Council.

Grants

Commissioners are pleased to acknowledge the significant progress that has been
made in decision taking on grants. The Overview and Scrutiny process, which
provides cross party advice on grants decisions, is now in place, albeit it is early days
to determine its effectiveness but it has started well. Commissioners were pleased to
welcome both the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, Clir Saunders, as co-opted members of
our Decision Making Meeting and we have established a mechanism which is
capable of recommendation to the Secretary of State as the transition stage in
returning grant decisions to Council control as part of revised Directions.

It is however disappointing to record that confidence in the Council’s ability to
administer the grants process in line with approved decisions has been seriously
damaged by the actions of some officers in failing to comply with recorded decisions
and substituting their judgements without seeking appropriate authority or properly
and openly reporting. The whole system of controls in local government depends on
trust in compliance with schemes and protocols of delegation.

A consequence of this is that officers have commenced an end to end review of
grants administration. Given the status of activity which is all covered by the Direction
Commissioners would want to have oversight of the outcomes including agreed
actions incorporated into any revision of the controls.

Igage 35



namters COMMISSIONERS

Annex A Directions

Procurement

Commissioners consider that future compliance with action plans and Standing
Orders are best monitored as part of the routine External Audit process and will
advise the Secretary of State accordingly.

Appointment of Statutory Officers

Commissioners have already commented on the powers now delegated to the Chief
Executive. The final step in the process is the establishment of a system of appraisal
which flows through the organisation starting with those officers that report to the
Chief Executive and cascades down to the bottom by reworking the existing
appraisal system. It is also a concern {o us that the Statutory Monitoring Officer has
been absent for a considerable period on sick leave. This has inevitably delayed
building a resilient organisation below the Monitoring Officer position, and has not
aided organisational relationships.

Publicity

A fully costed business plan now exists. What is now required is the action plan that
delivers this to be articulated and delivered, as discussed at the recent Best Value
Board. This will enable Commissioners to record full compliance with the Direction.

Property

There is still work to do in complying with this action plan. Commissioners need to be
satisfied that removal of controls will not lead to a return to old patterns of behaviour
and decision taking.

Of equal concern is the approach being promoted for voluntary sector property in
terms of community benefit. Commissioners have not yet hard evidence to suggest
that the approach being consulted on is capable of complying with the Best Value
Duty and being seen {o be open, transparent and consistent. We have consistently
requested worked examples which show how the proposals might work in practice
which we now understand are being prepared for discussion. There is a risk that
expectations will be raised which are not capable of delivery or endorsement.

Organisational Culiure

Commissioners have always seen this as the key to success. We slill believe that the
Council should draw together all the strands of this activity starting with Constitutional
and Member issues and continuing through the organisation. Whistleblowing is
fundamental to rooting out the bad practice of the past and we welcome the
establishment of the new process to deal with old allegations. We will want to see
how these are dealt with over the next period.

One of the key elements in the change in culture was the requirement for all staff to
complete and keep up to date a formal Declaration of Interests. We note that,
despite a number of extensions to the deadline, 100% compliance has not yet been

4
Page 36



namiers COMMISSIONERS

achieved and the appropriate audit tests to validate management response to the
information have not been reported on.

Commissioners would be happy to attend Cabinet and/or Overview and Scrutiny to
expand on any of the points in this letter. We would also be happy to work with the
Mayor and Chief Executive in meeting the Local Government Association to learn the
lessons from this intervention as recommended by the CLG Select Committee.

Yours sincerely

\___'/\-_._,T-*

Sir Ken Knight CBE QFSM DL
Lead Commissioner

/%_/_ %\j MVB«J’ |

Max Caller CBE ris Allison CBE Alan Wood CBE
Commissioner Commissioner Commissioner

5
Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 4.4

Best Value Board Forward Plan

Date

Draft Agenda

19t October
2016
(Quarterly
meeting in
public)

Property Spotlight
¢ Update focused on Civic Centre, Community
Buildings and Asset Rental Account

Organisational Culture Spotlight
e Transformation

6t Month Best Value Progress Update — Commissioner and
SoS response

15t November
2016

Organisational Culture Spotlight
e Member Officer relationships
e Update on the Clear Up Team

13th
December
2016

24th January
2017
(Quarterly
Meeting in
Public)

14th February
2017

14th March
2017

Page 39




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
	3 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	4.3 Best Value Plan Update
	Annex A1
	Annex A2
	Annex B doc

	4.4 Forward Plan

